IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GOVERNOR JOHN ELLIS "JEB" BUSH, CHARLES J. CRIST, JR., BRENDA MCSHANE, et al.,

Appellants,

CONSOLIDATED CASE NOS.:

SC04-2323, SC04-2324, SC04-2325

v.

RUTH D. HOLMES, et al.,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF BY APPELLANT CHARLES J. CRIST, JR., ATTORNEY GENERAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHRISTOPHER M. KISE

Solicitor General Florida Bar No. 0855545

LOUIS F. HUBENER Chief Deputy Solicitor General Florida Bar No. 0140084

ERIK M. FIGLIO Deputy Solicitor General Florida Bar No. 0745251 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01 The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399 (850) 414-3681

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Attorney General adopts the Statement of the Case and Facts contained in the Initial Brief of Appellants John Ellis (Jeb) Bush et al.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Legislature established the Opportunity Scholarship Program ("OSP"), to benefit children, not sectarian institutions. Unfortunately, the First District majority would strip the OSP's intended beneficiaries, children languishing in failing public schools, of the opportunity to access scholastic alternatives.

Fortunately, the First District's view need not prevail. There is a construction of Article I, Section 3, that is consistent with this Court's established precedent and with its established legislative interpretation, consistent with the constitutionality of the OSP, consistent with the avoidance of absurd results, and consistent with the educational interests of the intended beneficiaries, Florida's children. This Court can and should articulate and adopt that construction.

This Court's cases defining the parameters of Article I, Section 3, establish that a legislative scheme designed to further an important, non-sectarian government interest is not unconstitutional solely because sectarian institutions may receive (coextensively with non-sectarian institutions) incidental or secondary benefits. The test under Article I, Section 3, is whether the program was enacted to further (i.e., for the benefit of) a secular purpose, not whether sectarian institutions

indirectly benefit. As such, a state-funded scholarship program is not "in aid of" sectarian institutions just because sectarian institutions are eligible to participate.

The First District rejected this established test and adopted a construction under which any state action that incidentally benefits sectarian institutions is unconstitutional. Worse yet, their rationale cannot be limited to education. State activity in any context that could incidentally benefit churches, sects, religious denominations, or sectarian institutions would be unconstitutional as well.

The First District also failed to recognize that parents, not public officials, control and direct payment of OSP scholarship funds. A private school receives OSP funds only when a parent makes an independent choice to endorse an individual warrant to that particular private school. That the Legislature created a financial responsibility mechanism, in the form of a restrictive endorsement, in no way dictates, controls, or otherwise interferes with the selection by a parent of the school best suited for his/her child.

Accordingly, this Court should conclude that the OSP is not "in aid of" sectarian schools because (1) it is a religion-neutral program intended to benefit children, and (2) sectarian schools benefit, if at all, only as a result of the independent choices of the parents of eligible children.

This Court should also reject the suggestion of the concurrence in the decision below that Article IX, Section 1, provides an alternative "tipsy coachman"

basis for affirming the court's decision without implicating the federal constitution. The concurrence's conclusion, that the express language of Article IX, Section 1, inescapably implies that "adequate provision" for education may only be made through a "system of free public schools," cannot be squared with the provision's further instruction that the state create "other public education programs that the needs of the people may require." Regardless, this Court should not hold that what the Florida Constitution describes as "adequate provision" limits what the state can do to provide for education. Article IX, Section 1, does not circumscribe the state's authority to create innovative education programs that exist *in addition to* the constitutionally-mandated system of free public schools.

ARGUMENT

I. THE OSP IS CONSTITUTIONAL UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 3.

Article I, Section 3, of the Florida Constitution provides:

There shall be no law respecting the establishment of religion or prohibiting or penalizing the free exercise thereof. Religious freedom shall not justify practices inconsistent with public morals, peace or safety. No revenue of the state or any political subdivision or agency thereof shall ever be taken from the public treasury directly or indirectly in aid of any church, sect, or religious denomination or in aid of any sectarian institution.

In interpreting this language, this Court has repeatedly held that state action

intended "to promote the general welfare of society, apart from any religious

considerations, is valid, even though religious interests may be indirectly

benefited." *Nohrr v. Brevard County Educational Facilities Authority*, 247 So. 2d 304, 307 (Fla. 1971); *Johnson v. Presbyterian Homes of Synod, Inc.*, 239 So. 2d 256, 261 (Fla. 1970).

Contradicting this established precedent, the First District concluded that sectarian schools indirectly benefited from the OSP,¹ and held that such "[a]n indirect or secondary benefit to sectarian institutions from the use of state funds would be sufficient to violate [this section]." *Bush v. Holmes*, 886 So. 2d 340, 352 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). According to this holding, Article I, Section 3, compels hostility to sectarian institutions by obligating the state to exclude them from general welfare programs solely due to their religious affiliation. Religion-neutral programs of general applicability are thus invalid under Article I, Section 3, *solely because they are religion-neutral programs of general applicability*.

Even if *Johnson* and *Nohrr* were distinguishable, the court's construction of Article I, Section 3, would still be erroneous because it yields "catastrophic and

¹The First District's conclusion that sectarian schools benefited from the OSP is suspect because evidence presented in the circuit court demonstrated that sectarian schools suffered a net financial shortfall as a result of their participation. OSP funds are allocated in accordance with a formula that does not reflect the actual cost of education, *see* § 1002.38 (6), Fla. Stat., but participating schools must accept the amount provided as full tuition and fees, *id.* § 1002.38(4)(i). The court found this evidence irrelevant on the ground the "educational mission of these schools, including the religious education component" was nonetheless advanced by the additional support. *Holmes*, 886 So. 2d at 353. However, the "in aid of" provision speaks only of direct and indirect diversions of public revenue, not of intangibles, such as "educational mission."

absurd results," that is, the invalidation of every program in which public funds flow to sectarian institutions for any purpose. *Holmes*, 886 So. 2d at 373 (Wolf, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part); *see Southside Estates Baptist Church v*. *Board of Trustees*, 115 So. 2d 697, 700 (Fla. 1959) (rejecting construction of "in aid of" provision that would prohibit religious groups from conducting worship services on public property because "it could yield almost absurd results"); *see also, e.g.*, *In re Advisory Opinion To Governor*, 374 So. 2d 959, 964 (Fla. 1979) (noting that courts must avoid constructions of constitutional provisions that yield absurd results). This outcome is readily avoided if this Court concludes that the OSP is just what it purports to be, a general welfare program enacted for the benefit of children, and that sectarian institutions are not "aided" merely because incidental benefits may accrue solely as a result of parental choice.

A. Religion-Neutral Programs Intended To Promote The General Welfare Are Not Unconstitutional Simply Because Religious Interests Indirectly Benefit.

In *Johnson*, this Court announced the controlling standard: "A state cannot pass a law to aid one religion or all religions but state action to promote the general welfare of society, apart from any religious considerations, is valid, even though religious interests may be indirectly benefited." *Johnson*, 239 So. 2d at 261.

Like the statute at issue in *Johnson*, which granted tax exemptions to homes for the aged including homes owned by religious organizations and operated primarily for religious purposes, the OSP statute was enacted "to promote the general welfare . . . and not to favor religion." *See id.* The OSP applies to any school complying with the statute's eligibility criteria, not just religious schools. *See* § 1002.38(3)(a), (4), Fla. Stat. Hence, as in *Johnson*, "any benefit received by religious denominations is merely incidental to the achievement of a public purpose." *See Johnson*, 239 So. 2d at 261.

This Court recited the same test in *Nohrr*, in rejecting a challenge to a statute authorizing counties to issue bonds to finance the improvement of educational facilities, including sectarian private schools. *Nohrr*, 247 So. 2d at 307. The Court held that the statute was enacted "to promote the general welfare by enabling institutions of higher education to provide facilities and structures sorely needed for the development of the intellectual and mental capacity of our youth." *Id.* Just as in *Nohrr*, the OSP statute promotes the general welfare by providing for "the development of the intellectual and mental capacity of our youth," *id.*, and any indirect benefit to religious institutions is incidental to this primary public purpose.

The OSP statute was enacted to promote the general welfare by providing educational options to children attending failing public schools. *See* § 1002.38(1), Fla. Stat. To provide these children with as many alternatives as possible, the statute authorizes the parents of an eligible child to redirect funds to be used on behalf of the child to any other school, public or private, sectarian or nonsectarian,

that meets the statute's eligibility criteria. *Id.* Because the OSP is strictly neutral between every available educational alternative, the OSP statute is clearly not "a law [passed] to aid one religion or all religions." *Nohrr*, 247 So. 2d at 307; *Johnson*, 239 So. 2d at 262. Instead, it is *a law passed to aid children*. The statute cannot be invalid simply because it does not discriminate against sectarian schools.

The First District purported to distinguish *Johnson* as "analyzed . . . using considerations developed in Establishment Clause jurisprudence." *Holmes*, 886 So. 2d at 355. This distinction is belied by the *Johnson* Court's intentional use of the words "indirectly" and "aid" in formulating its test, concluding that laws passed "to *aid* one religion or all religions" are invalid, but that religion-neutral laws are valid "even though religious interests may be *indirectly* benefited." *Johnson*, 239 So. 2d at 261 (emphasis added). The notion that (a) the *Johnson* Court's choice of words was merely coincidental, and (b) the *Johnson* Court simply ignored the "in aid of" clause in making its decision, is, simply, untenable.

Johnson and *Nohrr* also hold that Article I, Section 3, does not obligate the Legislature to restrict participation in a general welfare program on the basis of sectarian affiliation. Precluding religious groups from participating in a religion-neutral program "would indeed be discriminatory and inconsistent with the obvious intent and secular aims of the Legislature." *Johnson*, 239 So. 2d at 262; *accord Locke v. Davey*, 540 U.S. 712, 720-21 (2004) (scholarship program was

constitutional because it did not "require students to choose between their religious beliefs and receiving a government benefit").² Invalidating the OSP solely because sectarian schools may derive an incidental benefit is no less discriminatory or inconsistent with the Legislature's intent and secular aims in the present case.

In straining to give the "in aid of" provision independent meaning from the balance of Article I, Section 3, the lower court adopted a construction that compels hostility to religion in a manner that is irreconcilable with *Johnson* and *Nohrr*. Its holding is equally irreconcilable with United States Supreme Court precedent construing the federal establishment clause, *e.g., Zobrest v. Catalina Foothills School Dist.*, 509 U.S. 1, 8 (1993) ("Given that a contrary rule would lead to such absurd results, we have consistently held that government programs that neutrally provide benefits to a broad class of citizens defined without reference to religion are not readily subject to an Establishment Clause challenge just because sectarian

² The lower court relied exclusively on *Locke* for its conclusion that Article I, Section 3, could preclude religious schools from participating in the OSP solely on the basis of religious affiliation without violating the federal free exercise clause. *Holmes*, 886 So. 2d at 362-65. Notwithstanding *Locke*, however, the state cannot act in a manner that discriminates on the basis of religious beliefs. *See, e.g.*, *Church of the Lukumi Babalu Aye v. City of Hialeah*, 508 U.S. 520, 532 (1993); *Malicki v. Doe*, 814 So. 2d 347, 354 (Fla. 2002). Although the Supreme Court in *Locke* concluded that a state could exclude "the religious training of clergy" from an otherwise generally available scholarship program, the Court characterized clerical training as a limited exception to the otherwise applicable principles established by the *Lukimi* line of cases. *See Locke*, 540 U.S. at 723 n.5. Moreover, the Court explained that the scholarship program at issue "goes a long way toward including religion in its benefits," because it "permit[ted] students to attend pervasively religious schools, so long as they are accredited." *Id.* at 724.

institutions may also receive an attenuated financial benefit."), and with decisions of other courts construing analogous constitutional provisions, e.g., California Educ. Facilities Auth. v. Priest, 526 P.2d 513, 521 (Cal. 1974) ("[California's antisectarian provision] has never been interpreted . . . to require governmental hostility to religion, nor to prohibit a religious institution from receiving an indirect, remote, and incidental benefit from a statute which has a secular primary purpose.... the crucial question is not whether the Act provides such a benefit, but whether that benefit is incidental to a primary public purpose"); Advisory Opinion re Constitutionality of PA 1970, No. 100, 180 N.W.2d 265, 274 (Mich. 1970) ("[I]ncidental benefits' to religious sects or societies do not invalidate an otherwise constitutional statutory program plainly intended and formulated to serve a public purpose."); Americans United v. Rogers, 538 S.W.2d 711, 721 (Mo. 1976) ("[A]n overriding public purpose will not suffer constitutional death at the hands of incidental private benefit."). Accordingly, this Court should reaffirm its holding in Johnson and Nohrr that statutes enacted "to promote the general welfare of society, apart from any religious considerations, [are] valid, even though religious interests may be indirectly benefited." Johnson, 239 So. 2d at 261; Nohrr, 247 So. 2d at 307.

B. Article I, Section 3, Can Be Readily Construed In A Manner Consistent With Prior Precedent That Upholds The Validity Of The OSP.

This Court has recognized a duty to "resolve all doubts of a statute in favor of its validity, when reasonably possible and consistent with constitutional rights." *State v. Brake*, 796 So. 2d 522, 527 (Fla. 2001); *see also, e.g., St. Mary's Hosp., Inc. v. Phillipe*, 769 So. 2d 961, 972 (Fla. 2000); *Doe v. Mortham*, 708 So. 2d 929, 934 (Fla. 1998). This Court has applied this rule in cases where the Legislature has enacted a statute reflecting its construction of a constitutional provision, and has accorded significant weight to such legislative construction. *See, e.g., Agency for Health Care Admin. v. Associated Indus.*, 678 So. 2d 1239, 1247 (Fla. 1997); *Vinales v. State*, 394 So. 2d 993, 994 (Fla. 1981); *Greater Loretta Improvement Ass'n v. State ex rel. Boone*, 234 So. 2d 665, 669 (Fla. 1970).

In enacting the OSP, the Legislature construed Article I, Section 3, as permitting a school choice program that allows parents of eligible children to choose among all private schools, sectarian and nonsectarian, that satisfy the statute's eligibility criteria. *See* § 1002.38(4), Fla. Stat. This construction of Article I, Section 3, is textually reasonable and consistent with *Johnson* and *Nohrr*. By contrast, the First District construed Article I, Section 3, in a way that required the unprecedented invalidation of a neutral program of general applicability. The First District's construction was based on a three-part test gleaned from the "in aid of" provision without analysis of its textual basis. The court concluded that: "(1) the prohibited state action must involve the use of state tax revenues; (2) the . . . state revenues cannot be used 'directly or indirectly in aid of' the prohibited beneficiaries; and (3) the prohibited beneficiaries . . . are 'any church, sect or religious denomination' or 'any sectarian institution.'" *Holmes*, 886 So. 2d at 352. The court then equated "[the taking of] revenue . . . indirectly in aid of" with "indirect benefits [to]," to hold that "[a]n indirect or secondary benefit to sectarian institutions from the use of state funds would be sufficient to violate the provisions." *Id.*

The First District's test necessarily implies that the court found that the "in aid of" provision was clear and unambiguous, and that "directly or indirectly" modifies "in aid of," the immediately following phrase, as opposed to "taken from the public treasury," the immediately preceding phrase. This finding was the foundation for the court's implausible conclusion that Article I, Section 3, proscribes all use of "state revenues . . . 'directly or indirectly in aid of' the prohibited beneficiaries," *Holmes*, 886 So. 2d at 352, (which the court equated to "indirect or secondary benefit[s]," *id.*), but that "the prohibited state action must involve the use of state tax revenues . . . ," *id.* Under the court's reasoning, the "in aid of" provision broadly invalidates state programs simply because they indirectly

benefit sectarian institutions, but narrowly operates only as to direct appropriations of tax revenues. If state tax revenues are directly used, no prevailing secular purpose will ever be sufficiently compelling to sustain a program from which sectarian institutions may indirectly benefit. If no state tax revenues are used, the Legislature could act for the specific purpose of providing a particular church or sectarian institution with a benefit, such as, e.g., the title to a public building.

The court's implicit holding that "directly or indirectly" modifies "in aid of" is inconsistent with *Southside Estates Baptist Church v. Board of Trustees*, 115 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1959). The appellants in *Southside Estates* argued that "wear and tear" on public school buildings could constitute "an indirect contribution from the public treasury" within the meaning of the "in aid of" provision. *Id.* at 699. This Court rejected this argument, but did so on the ground that the public cost was de minimis, *id.*, implying that a similar, but more substantial indirect contribution of public funds could be invalid under the provision. *See also Koerner v. Borck*, 100 So. 2d 398, 402 (Fla. 1958) (describing the "in aid of" provision as "prohibiting the expenditure of public funds, directly or indirectly, in aid of any church, sect, religious denomination, or sectarian institution.").

Other courts have reached similar conclusions in interpreting analogous antisectarian constitutional provisions. In *Trustees of First Methodist Episcopal Church v. Atlanta*, 76 Ga. 181 (1886), the Georgia Supreme Court upheld a tax

exemption to churches challenged under the anti-sectarian provision in the Georgia Constitution, which prohibited "[taking money] from the public treasury, directly or indirectly, in aid of any church, sect, or denomination of religionists, or of any sectarian institution." *Id.* at 196. The court explained that the exemption at issue was "not at all in conflict" with this provision because "it takes no money, either directly or indirectly, *from the public treasury*." *Id.* (emphasis added).

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