IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case Nos. SC04-2323/SC04-2324/SC04-2325

JOHN ELLIS "JEB" BUSH, *et al.*, CHARLES J. CRIST, JR., and BRENDA McSHANE, *et al.*,

Appellants,

v.

RUTH D. HOLMES, et al.,

Appellees.

On Direct Appeal from the First District Court of Appeal

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

RONALD G. MEYER Florida Bar No. 0148248 Meyer and Brooks, P.A. 2544 Blairstone Pines Drive Post Office Box 1547 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (850) 878-5212 ROBERT H. CHANIN JOHN M. WEST Bredhoff & Kaiser, P.L.L.C. 805 Fifteenth Street, N.W. Suite 1000 Washington, D.C. 20005 (202) 842-2600

(Additional counsel listed on next page)

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

b. The decision below is not only consistent with this Court's cases construing Article I, § 3, but it is in full accord with the great weight of authority from other jurisdictions addressing voucher and scholarship programs under constitutional language similar to that of Florida's no-aid clause.

Defendants cite one such case – the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision upholding a school voucher program in *Jackson v. Benson*, 578 N.W.2d 602 (Wis. 1998). The DCA considered *Jackson*, finding it distinguishable – based on differences in the constitutional language – and "unpersuasive." 886 So. 2d at 361. Indeed, the Wisconsin court's holding that the "benefits clause" of that state's

- 37 -

constitution was merely the "equivalent of the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment," 578 N.W.2d at 620, is squarely at odds with the "primacy doctrine" this Court has enunciated for interpretation of the Florida Constitution.

Against that single case stand nearly a score of decisions under provisions similar to Article I, § 3 that either strike down voucher and scholarship programs like the one at issue here, or invalidate programs that aid sectarian schools even less directly. We have discussed the voucher and scholarship cases earlier in this brief, *see supra* pp. 31-32 & note 25, and we add to them cases striking down programs supplying textbooks or bus transportation for sectarian schools – the reasoning of which would, *a fortiori*, invalidate programs like the OSP that provide sectarian schools with unrestricted funds.³⁰ In short, the overwhelming weight of authority holds that, under state constitutional provisions similar to Florida's, public funds may not be used to pay for students to attend sectarian schools.

4. Holding The OSP Unconstitutional Does Not Result In Wholesale Invalidation Of Other State Programs

A remarkable feature of defendants' briefs is how much more attention they seem to devote to various state programs that are *not* before this Court than they do

³⁰ See In re Certification of Question, 372 N.W.2d 113 (S.D. 1985) (textbooks); California Teachers Ass'n v. Riles, 632 P.2d 953 (Cal. 1981) (textbooks); Paster v. Tussey, 512 S.W.2d 97 (Mo. 1974) (textbooks); Epeldi v. Engelking, 488 P.2d 860 (Idaho 1971) (bus transportation); Spears v. Honda, 449 P.2d 130 (Haw. 1968) (bus transportation); Dickman v. School Dist. No. 62C, 366 P.2d 533 (Or. 1961) (textbooks).

to the OSP itself. Contrary to the warning of "dire implications for a multitude of significant Florida social programs," Gov. Br. at 24, it is only in defendants' briefs that the reasoning of the circuit court and the DCA leads to "absurd and unintended results." *Id.* While we do not exclude the possibility that one or another of the many programs defendants cite – such as the McKay Scholarship Program, § 1002.39, Fla. Stat., enacted contemporaneously with the OSP in 1999 – may be vulnerable to constitutional challenge, the reasoning of the courts below does not "inexorably lead," Gov. Br. at 24, to the wholesale invalidation of multiple state programs.

The parade of horribles defendants conjure up rests on the premise that undergirds all of their arguments – that the OSP was struck down in the courts below because it provided a merely "incidental" benefit to a religiously affiliated organization. Both the trial court and the DCA, the Governor asserts (without citation), "concluded that 'in aid of' . . . is synonymous with 'that results in a benefit to," *id.* at 7, and that "any direct or indirect public financial benefit that inures to the benefit of a religiously-affiliated entity is unconstitutional." *Id.* at 24. Having set up that straw man, defendants then find it easy to assert that affirming the judgment below "would inexorably lead to the conclusion that no public funds, or goods or services paid for with public funds, can flow to any religiously affiliated entity under any circumstances," *id.*, and to enumerate any number of programs – Medicaid, indigent care at religiously affiliated hospitals, scholarships for study at church-related universities, any government contracting with religious institutions, and even the rental of church premises for use as polling places – that would inevitably be swept away.

If there is anything "absurd" here, it is the suggestion that it is impossible to distinguish such programs from the OSP, under which the state pays for pervasively sectarian schools – whose very reason for being is religious education and indoctrination – to carry out their religious mission of "inculcat[ing] in each student a strong spirit of faith in the message of Jesus." R3S:3708.

To be sure, it is not inconceivable that a court *might* read Article I, § 3 broadly enough to require the invalidation of certain of the programs defendants cite, but such a result is by no means compelled by invalidation of the OSP. Far from it. In the first place, as the DCA observed, "nothing in the Florida no-aid provision would create a constitutional bar to state aid to a non-profit institution that was not itself sectarian, even if the institution is affiliated with a religious order or religious organization." 886 So. 2d at 362.³¹

³¹ The City of Jacksonville, which submitted an *amicus* brief addressed solely to this issue, declares itself "comfort[ed]" by this language from the DCA opinion. Jacksonville Br. at 10. Jacksonville's apparent concern is that this language is merely "non-binding dicta," *id.* at 11 - but that is to some degree inevitable when a court is deciding the case before it rather than offering an advisory opinion with respect to facts not presented.

Even more broadly, a court might find it consistent with the language and history of the "no aid" provision to read the constitutional term "sectarian institution" to mean an institution that is "pervasively sectarian," as that term has been used in cases applying the federal Establishment Clause. *See, e.g., Bowen v. Kendrick*, 487 U.S. 589, 621 (1988) (remanding for determination whether public aid "is flowing to grantees that can be considered 'pervasively sectarian' religious institutions, such as we have held parochial schools to be"). That reading, which would be consistent with the adoption of the no-aid provision in the historical context of concern over public funding of sectarian schools, would leave untouched state programs involving religiously affiliated institutions – such as hospitals, retirement homes, institutions of higher education, ³² or other faith-based

³² There is a considerable body of caselaw from other jurisdictions on the constitutionality, under state no-aid provisions, of publicly funded scholarships for study at church-affiliated colleges and universities. These cases are nearly equally divided. A number of state courts have struck such programs down. See Hartness, supra; Almond, supra; Sheldon Jackson College, supra; Rogers v. Swanson, supra; Witters, supra. Others, however, have declined to do so, pointing out that most church-related colleges and universities are not, like sectarian elementary and secondary schools, "pervasively sectarian" institutions devoted to religious indoctrination. See, e.g., Americans United v. Rogers, 538 S.W.2d 711, 722 (Mo. 1976) ("the parochial school cases with which this court has dealt in the past involved completely different types of educational entities than the colleges and universities herein involved"); Alabama Educ. Ass'n v. James, 373 So. 2d 1076 (Ala. 1979) (upholding postsecondary grant program based on finding that none of the recipient colleges were "pervasively sectarian" and that no state funds would be used for sectarian purposes); Americans United v. State, 648 P.2d 1072 (Colo. 1982) (upholding college scholarship program that excluded pervasively sectarian institutions); Minnesota Fed'n of Teachers v. Mammenga, 485 N.W.2d 305 (Minn.

providers of "secular social services," Jacksonville Br. at 12 - in which religious training and instruction is not an integral part of the institution's functions.³³

Finally, there are certainly situations in which a public entity's economic transaction with even a pervasively sectarian institution may not constitute "aid" to that institution within the constitutional meaning. The rental of church facilities for use as polling places – an example cited in the dissenting opinion below, 886 So. 2d at 376 – may provide some financial benefit to the church. But such transactions – involving a simple "fee-for-services," Gov. Br. at 23, where any benefit is indeed "incidental" – are readily distinguishable from a program like the OSP, through which the state pays for sectarian institutions to engage in activity that significantly and directly advances their core religious missions.

Regardless of how a court might ultimately hold with respect to any of these various programs, what is clear is that under *any* conceivable reading of Article I,

Ct. App. 1992) (upholding program on finding that most participating colleges were not pervasively sectarian); *Gallwey*, 48 P.3d at 284-87 (upholding postsecondary grant program that barred "enroll[ment] for any program that include[s] any religious worship, exercise, or instruction").

³³ It is not necessary to decide whether that is a correct reading of Article I, § 3 in order to resolve this case. Defendants admitted in the trial court that the four religiously affiliated schools participating in the OSP "are sectarian institutions within the meaning of Article I, § 3 of the Florida Constitution." R3S:3573 (Admission 13). The DCA appropriately declined to go further and determine whether that constitutional term should be read to mean "pervasively sectarian." *See* 886 So. 2d at 353 n.10. § 3, the public funds supplied by the OSP to pay for sectarian schools to provide children with a religious education are "in aid of" those "sectarian institution[s]."

B. Striking Down The OSP Under Article I, § 3 Does Not Conflict With The Free Exercise Clause Of The Federal Constitution

Even if the DCA correctly interpreted Article I, § 3, defendants argue, its decision nonetheless should be overturned because it is in conflict with the Free Exercise Clause of the United States Constitution.³⁴ This argument is doubly flawed: the issue of "religious discrimination" that defendants seek to raise simply is not presented in this case, and their argument is in any event foreclosed by the U.S. Supreme Court's recent decision in *Locke v. Davey*, 540 U.S. 712 (2003).

1. <u>No Federal Issue Is Presented</u>

The federal constitutional issue defendants seek to raise – whether a privateschool voucher program that excludes sectarian schools violates the Free Exercise

³⁴ The Governor also asserts that the decision below is contrary to the Free Exercise Clause of the state Constitution, which differs, at least semantically, from its federal counterpart in proscribing laws "prohibiting *or penalizing*" the free exercise of religion. Art. I, § 3, Fla. Const. (emphasis added). This argument was not preserved below and is therefore not properly before this Court. As the DCA noted, no party raised the argument either in the trial court or on appeal. "Whether the application of a statute, or here the no-aid provision, is constitutional must be raised first at the trial level." 886 So. 2d at 365 (citing cases). In any event, both the Free Exercise Clause and the no-aid provision are part of Article I, § 3, and defendants' argument amounts to saying that one part of that Article is unconstitutional under another part of that Article. Obviously, the two must be construed in harmony – partly by recognizing that the state does not "prohibit" or "penalize" the exercise of anyone's religion by declining to fund it.

Clause of the federal Constitution – is simply not presented by this appeal.³⁵ The Legislature has not established a program that does that, nor does the judgment of the court below leave such a program in place. The OSP on its face allows participation by both sectarian and nonsectarian private schools. The circuit court was not asked to – nor did it – exclude sectarian schools from participating in an otherwise valid program; rather, it struck down the program in its entirety and enjoined its further implementation.³⁶ The DCA affirmed that ruling. Neither

³⁶ In this Court, one *amicus* brief asks the Court, should it affirm the judgment below, to sever four words from the statute and allow it to remain in effect with respect to nonsectarian schools. Berkshire School Br. None of the defendant parties has raised that argument, which accordingly is not properly before the Court. See Michels v. Orange County Fire/Rescue, 819 So. 2d 158, 159-60 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) (amici may not inject issues not raised by the parties); Turner v. Tokai Fin. Servs., Inc., 767 So. 2d 494, 496 n.1 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000) (same). Even if the issue were properly presented, the statute cannot be severed. The asserted basis for doing so is not the deletion of a discrete, separable provision, but rather the excision of four words ("may be sectarian or") in a way that makes the sentence from which they were deleted say the opposite of what the Legislature wrote – sectarian schools *may not* participate, rather than sectarian schools *may* participate. See Berkshire Br. at 7. Furthermore, while the federal Free Exercise issue is insubstantial after Locke v. Davey, there was surely an argument at the time the OSP was enacted in 1999 that a purely nonsectarian voucher program would have violated the federal Constitution. Indeed, the Governor - who was the driving force behind enactment of the Voucher Program continues to argue that position in his brief to this Court. In light of the doubt

³⁵ We note that defendants do not argue that Florida is required by the federal Constitution to pay for education at sectarian schools merely because it funds education in the public schools. The Supreme Court long ago rejected that contention, *Brusca v. Missouri*, 405 U.S. 1050 (1972) (mem.), *aff'g* 332 F. Supp. 275 (E.D. Mo. 1971), and accordingly defendants argue only that *if* Florida maintains a private-school voucher program it cannot exclude sectarian schools.

under the statute as written nor under the lower court's ruling does there exist a program that excludes sectarian schools from an otherwise valid program.³⁷ The federal issue defendants seek to raise is, accordingly, not before the Court.

Nor can defendants get around this problem by claiming that the issue they are raising is whether the no-aid provision itself violates the federal Constitution. Nothing in Article I, § 3 requires the state to establish a program that excludes sectarian schools from a voucher program. *Both* Article I, § 3, as construed by the courts below, *and* what defendants contend is the mandate of the federal Free Exercise Clause, are satisfied by precisely the relief the trial court ordered in this case – invalidation of the OSP in its entirety. The absence of any voucher program is consistent with *both* the Florida Constitution's mandate against funding sectarian schools *and* the asserted prohibition in the federal Constitution against treating sectarian private schools differently than nonsectarian private schools.³⁸

about the validity of such a program at the time of the statute's enactment, the Court should not presume that the Legislature would have enacted a purely nonsectarian program had it known that the OSP as drafted was unconstitutional.

³⁷ As the DCA noted, "because we are holding the OSP unconstitutional in its entirety, and not just its application to sectarian schools, our decision . . . does not specifically target religion for disparate treatment." 886 So. 2d at 366 n.21.

³⁸ Thus, a ruling in defendants' favor on the federal issue they seek to raise would not (as they appear to assume) require reversal of the judgment below invalidating the OSP in its entirety. It would, rather, be a purely advisory ruling applicable to a factual situation not before the Court.

If the Legislature were to react to the ruling that the OSP as written is unconstitutional by enacting a private-school voucher program that excluded sectarian schools, then the federal issue defendants seek to raise would properly be presented in a challenge to that program. But it is not before the Court now, and the Court should therefore decline to address it.

2. Locke v. Davey Establishes That The Free Exercise Clause Does Not Prohibit Florida From Excluding Sectarian Schools From A Private-School Voucher Program

Even if it were properly before this Court, defendants' contention that the state cannot, under the Free Exercise Clause of the federal Constitution, fund a nonsectarian private-school voucher program without also paying for the religious education of children in sectarian schools is entirely without merit.

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